1989

Gillham Advertising, Inc., a Utah Corporation v. Tim Williams and Scott Rockwood : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION STATEMENT

Jurisdiction to determine this appeal is conferred upon this Court by Section 78-2a-3(2)(h), Utah Code Annotated (1988).

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from an award of summary judgment in favor of Defendants, Tim Williams and Scott Rockwood (hereinafter "Williams and Rockwood").

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

The issues on appeal are:

1. Whether the Trial Court erred in granting Williams and Rockwood Summary Judgment where material issues of fact existed with respect to their actions, as corporate officers and key employees, in regards to fiduciary duties of loyalty, good faith, and fair dealing owing Gillham Advertising, Inc. (hereinafter "Gillham").
2. Whether Williams and Rockwood breached those fiduciary duties.

3. Whether Williams and Rockwood interfered with Gillham's business relations.

4. Whether Gillham's Complaint raises material issues of fact such that summary judgment on the Complaint was improperly granted.

5. Whether Williams and Rockwood are entitled to all or a portion of their costs incurred for depositions in defending this action by Gillham.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure is determinative of the issues before this Court. Rule 56 is included as Addendum "D" to this Brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is an action by an employer against two of its former employees and officers (hereinafter "Williams and Rockwood") for breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract, and interference with business relations. Williams and Rockwood each counterclaim for breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and defamation.

B. Course of Proceedings

On December 3, 1987, Gillham commenced this action against Williams and Rockwood. [R. 002-008] On December 28, 1987, Williams and Rockwood filed an Answer and Counterclaim. [R. 015-029] Gillham replied on January 19, 1988. [R. 030-036]

On January 26, 1988, Gillham noticed up the depositions of Williams and Rockwood for February 10, 1988. [R. 037-038, 297, 296] On February 2, 1988, Williams and Rockwood served Gillham with Interrogatories and Requests for Production of Documents. [R. 039] Gillham responded on March 4, 1988. [R. 055-056] Gillham supplemented its Responses on March 21, 1988. [R. 040-041]

Williams and Rockwood were not satisfied with Gillham's responses and filed a Motion and Memorandum to compel on March 23, 1988. [R. 042-052] Gillham served a responsive Memorandum on Williams and Rockwood. [R. 057-063] After hearing held April 18, 1988 [R. 064], Gillham served Supplemental Answers on Williams and Rockwood on May 12, 1988 [R. 065-066], together with Plaintiff's request that Williams and Rockwood produce documents. [R. 067] On May 25, 1988, Williams and Rockwood noticed up the deposition of Lon R. Richardson for June 1, 1988 and then June 21, 1988. [R. 068-071, 295]

On August 4, 1988, Williams and Rockwood filed a Motion and Memorandum for Partial Summary Judgment, together with Affidavits of Williams and Rockwood. [R. 075-168]

On August 31, 1988, Gillham filed its Memorandum in Opposition [R. 176-197], together with Affidavits of Milo S. Marsden, Jr. [R. 198-206] and D. Keith Hill. [R. 209-216]

On September 9, 1988, Williams and Rockwood filed a Reply Memorandum. [R. 217-237] The Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was heard September 12, 1988. [R. 238, 242]

On September 29, 1988, Williams and Rockwood filed a Memorandum of Costs. [R. 250-252] Gillham objected to those costs. [R. 253-262] A hearing was held October 31, 1988. [R. 268-269]

On November 3, 1988, Williams and Rockwood obtained a Writ of Garnishment which was served the next day. [R. 271-272, 275-283] The Writ was released November 11, 1989. [R. 273-274]

On December 2, 1988, Defendants obtained a second Writ of Garnishment which was served December 7, 1988. [R. 284-290] That Writ was released December 14, 1988. [R. 291-292]

C. Disposition at the Trial Court

On September 15, 1988, the Trial Court awarded Rockwood partial summary judgment against Gillham for a bonus in the amount of \$4,000 [R. 243-245], which Gillham has paid.

On September 26, 1988, the Trial Court awarded Williams and Rockwood summary judgment, dismissing Gillham's claims for relief. [R. 248-249; Addendum "B"]

On October 24, 1988, the Trial Court awarded Williams and Rockwood costs in the amount of \$795.78. [R. 246-247; Addendum "C"]

Gillham filed its Notice of Appeal October 21, 1988. [R. 266-267]

D. Relevant Facts

Uncontroverted Facts

1. Gillham is a Utah corporation engaged in the advertising business, having its principal place of business in Salt Lake

City. [R. 002, ¶ 1; 079, ¶ 1]

2. Williams and Rockwood are residents of Salt Lake County.
[R. 002, ¶s 2-3; 080, ¶ 2]

3. While with Gillham, Williams and Rockwood worked on the KSL advertising account. [R. 080, ¶ 5]

4. KSL had been a client of Gillham's for 10 or 12 years and, after First Security Bank, was Gillham's largest account.
[R. 179, ¶s 10-11]

5. Keith Hill, a former Gillham employee, was the KSL employee in charge of KSL's advertising accounts. [R. 080, ¶ 6; 081, ¶ 9]

6. Hill was a friend of both Williams and Rockwood. [R. 081, ¶ 10]

7. While with Gillham, Williams and Rockwood discussed with Hill their plans to purchase Gillham or form their own business.
[R. 081, ¶ 11]

8. While with Gillham, Williams and Rockwood prepared a "To Do" checklist of things to be done to form their own business if their negotiations to purchase Gillham failed. [R. 082, ¶ 13]

9. In establishing their new business entity, Williams and Rockwood reviewed and incorporated certain forms from Gillham.
[R. 083, ¶ 20]

10. On March 27, 1987, after Gillham discovered the "To Do" checklist and discussed it with Williams and Rockwood, Gillham dismissed Williams and Rockwood. [R. 082, ¶ 14]

11. Soon thereafter, KSL transferred its advertising business from Gillham to Williams and Rockwood. [R. 083, ¶ 19]

12. In Count III of its Complaint, Gillham alleges Williams and Rockwood owed fiduciary duties to Gillham which they breached, thereby damaging Gillham. [R. 006, ¶s 18-21]

Controverted Fact No. 1

1. Whether Williams and Rockwood were key employees and officers of Gillham or whether they were ordinary employees.

Facts According to Gillham

1. Williams was Senior Vice-President, supervisor, and primary contact person at Gillham on the First Security account, Gillham's largest account, which it had serviced for 35 years. In 1986, Gillham's annual gross billings to First Security were about \$600,000 and amounted to about 40 percent of Gillham's income. First Security left Gillham in March, 1987. [R. 178-179, ¶s 3-9]

2. As Vice-President and creative art director, Rockwood was responsible for Gillham's entire creative department consisting of two full-time writers, four full-time artists, and regular freelancers. [Deposition of Scott Rockwood, p. 9, lines 5-18]

3. Williams and Rockwood did not punch a time clock at Gillham. They had tasks and deadlines and worked until they were done. Rockwood arrived at 8:00 a.m. or earlier and worked until 6:00 p.m. or 8:00 p.m. most nights, often working through lunch. [Deposition of Scott Rockwood, p. 61, line 15 to p. 62 line 9]

4. For several months prior to their termination, Williams and Rockwood discussed with Lon Richardson, Gillham's President

and principal shareholder, the purchase of Gillham for about \$500,00 plus good will. Williams and Rockwood wanted control of Gillham in one (1) year; Richardson wanted to retain control for five (5) years. [R. 179, ¶s 12-16]

5. Williams recognized that Richardson had discretion in paying bonuses, depending on Gillham's profits. In March, 1987, Richardson paid Williams and Rockwood each \$1,000 as a bonus for 1986. [R. 188-189, ¶s 80-83]

6. Because Williams and Rockwood felt their bonuses were too small, in mid-March, 1987, Williams prepared a "To Do" checklist of things to accomplish prior to their departure from Gillham. [R. 181, ¶s 28-31]

Facts According to Williams and Rockwood

1. Williams and Rockwood were employed by Gillham as employees at will. [R. 018, ¶ 4; 080, ¶ 4; 075, ¶s 2-3; 167, ¶s 2-3]

Controverted Fact No. 2

2. Whether Williams and Rockwood, while employees and officers of Gillham, determined upon a course of conduct which, when subsequently carried out, resulted in benefit to themselves from the taking of the KSL account from Gillham in violation of fiduciary duties of good faith and fair dealing they owed Gillham.

Facts According to Gillham

In its Memorandum in Opposition Summary Judgment, Gillham asserted the following supplemental facts:

22. Defendants wanted the KSL business and directly solicited that business from Hill. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 26, lines 13-15; p. 28, lines 23-25). [R. 180]

The citations to Rockwood's deposition provided:

Mr. Rockwood: We naturally told him that we wanted his business and directly solicited that business, told him why we thought he should come with us . . . I don't recall specifics of the conversation. I recall that we discussed why he should come with us. And we put our best foot forward . . .

23. Defendants eventually got the KSL advertising business away from Gillham. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 30, lines 5-9). [R. 180]

Mr. Marsden: Did you eventually get the advertising business for KSL?

Mr. Rockwood: Well, currently we are handling virtually all of their business, but we have no contract per se with them.

24. Defendants, in leaving Gillham, knew they had to talk to Hill and present a plan to show their interest in handling the KSL business. (Deposition of Williams, p. 23, lines 1-6). [R. 180]

Mr. Williams: . . . And this is one of those items we knew we would have to do in the future. And that meant to talk to Keith Hill of KSL Television. If we did leave Gillham we knew we would have to talk to him and we knew that we would have to present a plan to show him our interest in handling his business.

25. Defendants met with Hill prior to their termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 18, lines 23-25). They talked about starting their own business. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 19, lines 22-24; Deposition of Williams, p. 24, lines 15-18). [R. 181]

The citations to Rockwood's deposition provided:

Mr. Marsden: Working back from March 27th to the most recent conversation with Keith Hill, prior to your termination, about business, where did that take place and when, if you can recall?

Mr. Rockwood: Well, I can't be certain because I don't recall it that clearly. I recall that we had breakfast

with him I think at the Market Street Grill . . . We talked about the fact that we might consider starting our own business if this sale did not work out.

The citation to Williams' deposition provided:

Mr. Marsden: Did you talk to Keith about your leaving prior to your termination?

Mr. Williams: We told Keith we were considering the option in the event the buy agreement did not work.

26. Defendants talked to Keith Hill and presented a plan. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 17, lines 6-14). [R. 181].

Mr. Marsden: Talk to Keith--present plan. What did that mean?

Mr. Rockwood: Well, Keith Hill worked for KSL Television. And if we were to pursue that business when we started our own we would have to talk to Keith and we would have to present a plan to Keith.

Q. Did you do that?

A. No--well, yes, we did talk to Keith and we presented a plan.

27. Prior to Defendants' termination, they discussed with Keith Hill if he would be interested in joining their new agency and he responded yes. (Deposition of Hill, p. 38, lines 12-15). [R. 181]

Mr. Hill: Well, I remember them asking me should--if their agency were formed, would I be interested . . . And I told them yes.

28. In mid-March, 1987, Tim Williams prepared a "To Do" checklist of things to accomplish prior to Defendants departure from Gillham. (Deposition of Williams, p. 16, lines 18-20). [R. 181]

Mr. Marsden: And approximately when did you prepare that?

Mr. Williams: It was in the month of March, I don't know, probably mid-March.

29. The "To Do" checklist was prepared prior to Defendants' termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 16, lines 1-4). [R. 181]

Mr. Marsden: Do you know when it was written?

Mr. Rockwood: It would have been during March of 1987.

Q. Was it before March 27th?

A. Yes.

30. The "To Do" checklist is in Tim Williams handwriting. (Deposition of Williams, p. 16, line 17). [R. 181]

Mr. Marsden: Is that your handwriting?

Mr. Williams: Yes, it is.

31. Defendants prepared the "To Do" checklist because they felt they were not fairly dealt with in the 1986 bonus money Gillham paid them in March, 1987. (Deposition of Williams, p. 20, lines 19-25). [R. 181]

Mr. Williams: I would say both Scott and I were disappointed and had felt that we were not fairly dealt with in the bonus money that he paid earlier that month. And that to us was a show of his attitude towards us. And I would say that that might have given us more motivation than we had before. But I wouldn't say that that was the event.

32. Some of the checklist items were performed prior to termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 16, line 18). [R. 181]

Mr. Marsden: Did you actually start to implement some of the items?

Mr. Rockwood: It's possible that we've done some of these things, that we had done some of them, it's possible.

33. Defendants crossed off the "To Do" checklist items they had accomplished. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 16, line 24). [R. 182]

Mr. Marsden: What's the significance of items that are crossed off?

Mr. Rockwood: . . . Some of them are probably things that had already been done.

34. Defendants crossed off items on the "To Do" checklist they in fact had accomplished. (Deposition of Williams, p. 26, line 18). [R. 182]

Mr. Williams: . . . well, there are a few instances in which it's crossed off because we did in fact do them.

35. Defendants were following a time table on the "To Do" checklist. (Deposition of Williams, p. 28, line 17). [R. 182]

Mr. Williams: I assume that was a timetable that we were following on some of these items . . .

36. Prior to their termination, Defendants talked with Gene Yates, a Gillham employee, about Defendants starting a new business and asked Gene Yates to come with them. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 40, line 18; p. 41, line; p. 41, line 12). [R. 182]

Mr. Marsden: Did you talk to Gene prior to your termination about leaving and setting up a new business?

Mr. Rockwood: It came up in conversation. As I recall he had--when we asked him about his relationship with Larry Miller he kind of wondered what we were thinking and asked us if we were thinking of starting our own business or something like that. And we told him that we were considering the possibility.

Q. Did you ask Gene if he was interested in coming with you?

A. We talked about if he might be interested. We didn't make him an offer saying--if we do this will you come with us--or anything like that. We basically were exploring--if this were to happen would he have any interest?

37. Defendants had contacted an accountant for their new business prior to their Gillham termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 36, line 6). [R. 182]

Mr. Marsden: I'm talking about prior to your termination at Gillham.

Mr. Rockwood: We had called another accountant to try to set up an appointment but had not actually met with him.

38. Defendants had obtained stationery for their new business and a logo prior to their Gillham termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 38, lines 5, 15). [R. 182]

Mr. Marsden: Next item is--create stationery, forms (to Scott by Friday)--what does that mean?

Mr. Rockwood: I had designed the logo.

39. Defendants planned their expenses prior to their Gillham termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 44, lines 2-14). [R. 182]

Mr. Marsden: Plan expenses.

Mr. Rockwood: Yeah, we were probably planning the kinds of expenses we thought we would incur if we started a new business.

Q. Did you make a list of them?

A. Probably did, I think we did.

Q. Do you have a copy of that list?

A. I don't have a copy of it.

Q. Do you know who does?

A. I don't know, but Tim may. I have not saved any of that material.

Q. Was this done before your termination?

A. Yeah, I believe so.

40. Defendants listed the Gillham employee, Dave Bodie, on the checklist as a potential employee for Defendants' new advertising agency. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 46, lines 4-24). [R. 182-183]

Mr. Marsden: Talk to Dave B. Do you know who that is?

Mr. Rockwood: Dave Boede.

Q. Spell it?

A. Boede, I think.

Q. Was that done?

A. Well, I don't know. We talked to Dave Boede a lot because he was a member of our team as far as many of the accounts we worked on.

Q. Obviously I'm just talking in regards to this alternate plan, how he fits into that on this list.

A. I don't believe so. He was aware of our interest in buying the agency and some of the discussions we had had with Lon.

Q. But my question is why is he on this list, if you know?

A. I believe that the reason he's on this list is because we had many friends at Gillham.

Q. Sure.

A. People who if we were to leave and to start our own agency would probably want to come with us, would probably be hurt

41. Defendants looked at office space prior to their termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 47, lines 10-15). [R. 183]

Mr. Marsden: The next item--look into other space--did you look at other space prior to your termination?

Mr. Rockwood: We looked into office space because we wanted to find out what the cost of office spaces were and availability and that sort of thing. So we had looked at office space but had not selected any.

42. Defendants gathered incorporation and bylaw materials for their new advertising agency prior to their termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 48, lines 1-22). [R. 183]

Mr. Marsden: The next item is--incorporate bylaws--Monday--tell me about that.

Mr. Rockwood: Well, we didn't want to spend a lot of money incorporating. We had very little money. If we were to do this we knew we would have to try to do it as cheaply as possible. My mother has owned several businesses and so have other family members. And I wanted to gather some incorporation papers and bylaws. And I thought that perhaps we could by using some of their materials avoid having to pay for lawyers to draw them up for us. We could create our own.

Q. And do you have what Monday that's referring to?

A. I don't recall what Monday that's referring to.

Q. But it does refer to you having gathered examples by that date?

A. That was the intent, to gather those things.

Q. Did you do that?

A. I had gathered that material, yes.

Q. Prior to your termination?

A. Yes.

43. Defendants copied a radio reel and "Home Equity Loan Blues" work produced at Gillham prior to their termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 49, lines 13-25). [R. 183]

Mr. Marsden: I guess under that is--copy of radio reel and Home Equity Loan Blues--what are they?

Mr. Rockwood: They're examples--the radio reel is a cassette of examples of work produced at Gillham. I was involved in all of the projects on that and I wanted to get a copy of that because that's the nature of this business. People are hired on the work that they've done and what the prospective employer thinks of the quality of that work. So it's standard practice in the industry to get a copy of all the projects that you worked on and you set those forth as being examples of what you're capable of doing. I wanted to get a copy of what I had worked on.

44. Defendants priced the cost of telephones before their Gillham termination. (Deposition of Rockwood, p. 55, line 20). [R. 182]

Mr. Marsden: Next is--phone installation--with your name. Can you tell me about that?

Mr. Rockwood: Yeah, I was going to price the cost of phones and see how much it would cost to get them installed, that kind of thing.

Q. Did you do that?

A. I called to get that information, yeah.

Q. Before your termination?

A. Yeah.

45. Lon Richardson showed Defendants the "To Do" checklist and it was obvious to Richardson that Defendants fully intended to leave Gillham and were in the process of doing so. (Deposition of Richardson, p. 134, lines 20-25; p. 135, lines 1-3). [R. 183]

Mr. Richardson: I showed them the checklist and asked them what it was and asked them what they were doing and why and tried to determine whether they were truly going to leave or whether this was just kind of a -- a preliminary kind of thing that one might do.

Ms. Wood: What did they say?

Mr. Richardson: Well, the longer the conversation went on the more it was obvious to me that they fully intended to do so and were in the process of doing so.

46. Tim Williams and Scott Rockwood held a number of closed-door meetings in Tim Williams' office prior to termination. (Deposition of Richardson, p. 128, lines 22-23; deposition of Rockwood, p. 60, lines 4-25). [R. 183]

The citation to Richardson's deposition provided:

Mr. Richardson: The only signs that might be interpreted were a number of closed-door meetings in Tim's office.

The citation to Rockwood's deposition provided:

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