1989

Gillham Advertising, Inc., a Utah Corporation v. Tim Williams and Scott Rockwood : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Footnote continued from previous page.

after they were fired. Hill Depo. p. 41 lines 12-16 (R. 224), and (R. 134-137).

4. Appellant has once again employed similar tactics in its appeal to this court. Appellant, in its brief, attempts to conjure up a cause of action for "intentional interference with economic relations." Such a claim is conspicuously absent from both Appellant's complaint and the record below. See discussion infra at IV.

business information." (R. 006 ¶19-20). Even if Appellant's complaint is interpreted as one for breach of fiduciary duty, however, the trial court properly found that no such duty had been breached.

A. The Preliminary Efforts Of Williams And Rockwood To Form A Competing Business Is Conduct Permitted By Utah Law.

The law does not forbid an employee from organizing a rival business while still employed by a potential competitor:

Even before the termination of his agency, [the employee] is entitled to make arrangements to compete except that he cannot properly use confidential information peculiar to his employer's business and acquired therein. Thus, before the end of his employment, he can properly purchase a rival business and upon termination of his employment immediately compete.

Restatement (Second of Agency), § 393 comment e (1958) (emphasis added); see also Las Luminarias of the New Mexico Council of the Blind v. Isengard, 92 N.M. 297, 587 P.2d 444 (1978); Mulei v. Jet Courier Service, Inc., 739 P.2d 889 (Colo. App. 1987). Utah has adopted the Restatement approach and further defines the right of the employee to include "the right to advise customers of the fact that he is going to quit; and that thereafter he will be working for a competitor." Crane Co. v. Dahle, 576 P.2d 870, 872 (Utah 1978).

The cases cited by Appellant do not support Appellant's proposition that Williams and Rockwood violated

any duty owed to Gillham because each case involved the solicitation of an employee's clients and undermining of the employer's business before the employment relationship ceased.

The defendants in Duane Jones Co. v. Burke, 306 N.Y. 172, 117 N.E.2d. 237 (N.Y. App. 1954), consisted of officers, shareholders and employees of the plaintiff advertising agency. Those defendants met together and agreed to either take over plaintiff's business or resign en masse and form a competing agency. When the president refused to sell the company, defendants threatened to resign, telling him that the plaintiff's customers had already been "presold" on the proposed new agency. The evidence before the court was that the president responded to the threat saying: "'In other words, you are standing there with a Colt .45, holding it at my forehead, and there is not much I can do except give up?', to which Hayes replied: 'Well, you can call it anything you want, but that is what we are going to do.'" Duane Jones at 241. The conduct which the court concluded was a breach of the duty owed by employees, included concerted, blatant and coercive solicitation of the plaintiff/employer's accounts for a competing corporation while still in plaintiff's employ, conduct which is reprehensible whether engaged in by officers, directors or regular employees.

Similarly, the defendants in Hoggan & Hall & Higgins, Inc. v. Hall, 18 Utah 2d 3, 414 P.2d 89 (1966), while serving

as directors and stockholders in the plaintiff corporation, solicited clients away from the plaintiff for the corporation they would be forming. Defendant Hall admitted that while still in plaintiff's employ he had contacted several of plaintiff's accounts, informed them that both he and the other defendant would be leaving and asked if the client would like Mr. Hall to continue to service those accounts. Id. at 91. Defendants thereafter resigned and took the files for the accounts they had solicited from plaintiff with them. Like the court in Duane Jones, the Hoggan court also found defendants liable to their former employer for their disloyal conduct.

Duane Jones, Hoggan and the instant case all involve advertising agencies. However, that is where the similarity ends. Williams and Rockwood were very interested in purchasing the Gillham agency. That interest was discussed with Mr. Richardson after Mr. Richardson had already expressed a desire to sell the agency to Gillham employees. Richardson Depo. 100:17-21. Richardson was not coerced into negotiations, but willingly engaged in those negotiation efforts with Respondents. When Williams and Rockwood became concerned that Richardson was not negotiating in good faith, Williams and Rockwood developed a contingency plan to create a new agency in case their attempt to purchase Gillham failed. However, according to Mr. Rockwood's testimony, Respondents'

"desire always was and still was to buy the agency."

(R. 160). The idea of creating a competing agency only came to fruition when Respondents were fired, and Respondents had no choice but to pursue their contingent plan.

Appellant has not presented this court or the court below with a scintilla of evidence that Williams and Rockwood solicited any Gillham accounts before leaving Gillham (let alone the kind of mass solicitation involved in the cases cited by Appellant). Post-termination solicitation of Gillham accounts, on the other hand, cannot constitute a violation of any alleged duty. Microbiological Research Corp., 625 P.2d at 700.⁵

B. Respondents Owed No Duty To Gillham Greater Than The Duty Of A Regular Employee.

Appellant attempts to sidestep Utah law--which clearly allows employees to act as Williams and Rockwood did--by alleging they were officers of the corporation owing a fiduciary duty of loyalty and good faith. The fact is Williams and Rockwood were not officers of the corporation. They were given titles, but were never made principals of the

5. The Mulei court refused to find violation of an employee's duty when the defendant solicited the former employer's customers for his new competing business, but did not actually begin competing until after he was fired. 739 P.2d at 893.

corporation.⁶ Moreover, even if they were officers, Appellant has failed to establish that they breached any duty owed by officers to a corporation.

1. Williams and Rockwood were not principals of Gillham.

Whether one is an officer owing a fiduciary duty is a question of law to be determined by the law of the state of incorporation. Lewis v. Knutson, 699 F.2d 230, 235 (5th Cir. 1983). Utah law defines officers of a corporation as follows:

The officers of a corporation shall consist of a president, one or more vice-presidents as may be prescribed by the bylaws, a secretary, and a treasurer, each of whom shall be elected by the board of directors at such time and in such manner as may be prescribed by the bylaws. Such other officers and assistant officers and agents as may be deemed necessary may be elected or appointed by the board of directors or chosen in such other manner as may be prescribed by the bylaws. Any two or more offices may be held by

6. Q: Did you hold any other positions with Gillham?

A: I was also given the title of vice-president, but that was a title that didn't have anything to do with being a principal in the corporation.

Q: What duties, if any, did it have?

A: Make me feel good.

Q: Anything other than that?

A: Did not affect my responsibilities.

Q: Did you ever sign documents as vice-president?

A: No.

(R. 151), Rockwood Depo. 10:21-11:5.

the same person, except the offices of president and and secretary shall not be held by the same person.

Utah Code Ann. § 16-10-45. The law then requires corporations to list the names and addresses of all corporate officers in its annual report filed with the Division of Corporations:

(1) Each domestic corporation and each foreign corporation authorized to transact business in this state shall file, within the time prescribed by this chapter, an annual report setting forth:

. . .

(d) the names and respective addresses of the directors and officers of the corporation;

. . .

Utah Code Ann. § 16-10-121.

Pursuant to the above law, Gillham filed its Corporation Annual Report in 1986 and 1987, both times listing its only officers as: Lon Richardson, Jr., President; Ronald W. Griffiths, Vice-President; Nancy Mower, Secretary; and Lon Richardson, Jr., Treasurer. See p. 2 note 1, supra. The 1986 annual report was in effect the year the alleged actions took place. Neither that report, nor the report for the following year list either Respondent as a corporate officer. This evidence was before the lower court when it granted Respondents' motion for summary judgment and was not controverted by Appellant.

2. "Executive Officers" as defined by insurance law are not officers for purposes of finding a strict fiduciary duty.

Appellant recognizes the weakness in its argument that Williams and Rockwood were Gillham officers, and so, attempts to create a fact issue as to whether Respondents could be classified as "executive officers." Such a position is irrelevant to a discussion of whether Williams and Rockwood owed a fiduciary duty to the company.

Appellant's brief is replete with insurance cases in which the court is asked to determine whether an employee is an executive officer for purposes of insurance coverage. That situation is not analogous to the one at bar, nor does it give rise to an inference that such an "executive officer" owes a fiduciary duty to its employer. The public policy which lies at the heart of insurance cases is fundamentally different from the policy of holding an officer, shareholder or director to a fiduciary duty. A basic rule of insurance law is that the insurance policy is always construed against the insurer and in favor of the insured. P. E. Ashton Co. v. Joyner, 17 Utah 2d 162, 406 P.2d 306 (Utah 1965); Metropolitan Property & Liability Ins. Co. v. Finlayson, 751 P.2d 254 (Utah App. 1988). That construction naturally leads to a broader definition of what constitutes an "officer", which

construction will affect whether coverage is found in the case.

In contrast, the fiduciary duty is narrowly construed to apply only to officers, directors, and shareholders of a corporation. 3 Fletcher, Cyclopedic Corporations § 1011 (Perm. Ed. 1986); Lewis v. Knutson, 699 F.2d 230 (5th Cir. 1983); Fausett v. American Resources Management Corp., 542 F.Supp. 1234 (D. Utah 1982).

Appellant offers no authority in support of its proposition that executive officers as defined in insurance cases owe a fiduciary duty to a corporation similar to that duty owed by directors and officers. Respondent, on the other hand, does not suggest that employees owe no duty to the employer, but that the duty of an employee is not the same as the fiduciary duty owed by officers, directors, and stockholders.

3. "Key Employees" are not fiduciaries of a corporation.

Alternatively, Appellant has argued that Williams and Rockwood were "key employees" owing the same type of duty owed by directors, shareholders and officers. However, Appellant has never offered this court or the court below any Utah law which distinguishes between regular employees and so-called "key employees" for the purpose of finding a fiduciary duty.

Appellant offers only the case of Duane Jones Co. v. Burke, 306 N.Y. 172, 117 N.E.2d 237 (N.Y.App. 1954) for the proposition that even employees who are clearly not officers of the corporation owe the same strict fiduciary duty to their employer as do officers. That case, however, does not suggest that the duty owed by "key employees" is the same as the fiduciary duty owed by officers and directors. In fact, the standard used by the court against which the defendants' conduct was measured was "the standard required by the law of one acting as an agent or employee of another." Duane Jones at 245 quoting Lamdin v. Broadway Surface Adv. Corp., 272 N.Y. 133, 138 5 N.E.2d 66, 67 (emphasis added).

C. Williams And Rockwood's Conduct Was Appropriate Even If They Were Officers of Gillham.

Even if Williams and Rockwood were officers, their conduct did not violate any duty owed to Gillham. The duty of an officer is defined as follows:

Concern for the integrity of the employment relationship had led courts to establish a rule that demands of a corporate officer or employee an undivided and unselfish loyalty to the corporation. (cites omitted)

There exists, however, an exception to this general requirement of loyalty. Thus an employee does not violate his duty of loyalty when he merely organizes a corporation during his employment to carry on a rival business after the expiration of this term of employment. (cites omitted)

Las Luminarias, 587 P.2d at 449 (emphasis added); see also 3 Fletcher, Cyclopedia Corporations § 856 (Perm. Ed. 1986).

The "fiduciary" duty which Appellant seeks to impose is nothing in short of involuntary servitude. Under Appellant's theory Williams and Rockwood could not investigate other employment alternatives until after they were terminated. Such is clearly not the current state of the law. See Microbiological Research Corp., 625 P.2d at 700; Crane Co., 576 P.2d at 872-873.

The decision of the trial court was in accordance with well-settled Utah law and is not inconsistent with the law of other jurisdictions. In the face of undisputed facts concerning Williams' and Rockwood's preparations to create a new business while still in Appellant's employ, the court properly found that there was no evidence of a breach of fiduciary duty. Williams and Rockwood admittedly took preliminary steps to form their own advertising agency and also informed an employee of one of Gillham's clients, who was also their friend, of their prospects to buy Gillham or form their own business. However, Respondents never unequivocally committed themselves to the alternate plan. It is unclear whether these plans would have even been consummated if Respondents had not been summarily fired. If Appellant has been harmed, it has been by his own actions in firing these admittedly valuable employees.

Respondents' actions are permitted by Utah law which allows an employee to prepare to compete with an employer while still in his employ. Moreover, although Utah law under some circumstances, may forbid officers charged with fiduciary obligations from engaging in conduct which undermines his employer's business while still in his employ, the evidence that Respondents did not engage in such conduct has gone uncontested. Summary judgment was appropriate.

IV. APPELLANT HAS FAILED TO PLEAD OR OFFER EVIDENCE IN SUPPORT OF ITS SUPPOSED CLAIM FOR INTENTIONAL INTERFERENCE WITH ECONOMIC RELATIONS.

A. This Tort Claim Was Not Before The Trial Court And Is Not Properly Before This Court.

Utah law is unmistakably clear on the point that matters not raised in pleadings or addressed before the trial court cannot be raised for first time on appeal. Lane v. Messer, 731 P.2d 488 (Utah 1986). The Utah Supreme Court states:

Orderly procedure, whose proper purpose is the final settlement of controversies, requires that a party must present his entire case and his theory or theories of recovery to the trial court; and having done so, he cannot thereafter change to some different theory and thus attempt to keep in motion a merry-go-round of litigation.

Bundy v. Century Equipment Co., 692 P.2d 754, 758 (Utah 1984),
quoting Simpson v. General Motors Corp., 24 Utah 2d 301, 303,
470 P.2d 399, 401 (1970).

Appellant ignores this fundamental concept in its appeal. Appellant's suggestion that a claim for intentional interference with economic relations was raised below is simply unsupported by the record. All of the claims contained in the complaint specifically seek redress for alleged harm stemming from misuse of Gillham's confidential business information. Even if, by some stretch of the imagination, this new claim could be implied from language contained in the complaint, summary judgment would still be appropriate because such a claim would, like all other claims in the complaint, be based on alleged misuse of Gillham business information. Appellant has already conceded that Williams and Rockwood have not misused such information. In light of that concession the lower court appropriately dismissed all of Gillham's claims.

The only other way this issue could possibly be before this court is if it was presented in arguments below. Neither Appellant's brief nor Williams' and Rockwood's briefs on the motion for summary judgment make a single reference to an allegation of intentional interference with prospective economic relations. Therefore it would be inappropriate to reverse the decision of the lower court on a basis not before it.

B. Respondents' Undisputed Conduct Was Not Tortious.

Although the claim for intentional interference with economic relations is not properly before this court the facts in this case do not support such a claim in any event. The Utah Supreme Court first recognized the claim of intentional interference with prospective economic advantage in Leigh Furniture and Carpet Co. v. Isom, 657 P.2d 293 (Utah 1983). In so doing, the court adopted the Oregon approach to the tort which "require[s] the plaintiff to allege and prove more than the prima-facie tort." Id. at 304. The elements which must be proven are:

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